NASA RP 1038 c.1

NASA Reference Publication 1038

AVRADCOM Technical Report 78-21

LOAN COPY: RETURN B AFWL TECHNICAL LIER C KIRTLAND AFB, N. NU

TECH LIBRARY KAFB, NN DOL 3267

Review and Status of Liquid-Cooling Technology for Gas Turbines

G. James Van Fossen, Jr., and Francis S. Stepka

APRIL 1979







NASA Reference Publication 1038

AVRADCOM Technical Report 78-21

Review and Status of Liquid-Cooling Technology for Gas Turbines

G. James Van Fossen, Jr. Propulsion Laboratory, AVRADCOM Research and Technology Laboratories Lewis Research Center Cleveland, Ohio and

.....

Francis S. Stepka Lewis Research Center Cleveland, Ohio



National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Scientific and Technical Information Office

1979



CONTENTS

,

2

SUMMARY1
INTRODUCTION
REVIEW OF PAST EFFORTS
Cooling Methods and Demonstrator Turbines1
Forced Convection
Thermosyphon
Closed thermosyphon
Open thermosyphon
Closed-loop thermosyphon
Summary
Other Cooling Methods 10
Cooled cooling air
Spray cooling
Sweat cooling
Summary
Stator Blade Cooling12
BASIC AND SUPPORTIVE RESEARCH 13
Temperature-Enthropy Diagram
Forced Convection
Region I (Superheated Stream)14
Region II (Liquid Water) 14
Region III (Two-Phase Flow)17
Region IV (Near Critical) 19
Free Convection 20
Open Thermosyphon 20
Closed Thermosyphon 22
Closed-Loop Thermosyphon 23
TECHNOLOGY REQUIRED
CONCLUDING REMARKS
REFERENCES

.

. ..

· -

. .

SUMMARY

A review was made of basic and applied research related to the liquid cooling of gas turbines along with an assessment of the state of the art and future technology requirements. Although a number of liquid-cooled turbine demonstrators have been designed, built, and tested over the years, the designs were generally based on little information and gross approximations. The results of these demonstrations generally disclosed problems, questions, and awareness that additional design information was needed.

The review has indicated a lack of adequate basic data to provide understanding of the heat transfer, pressure drop, critical heat flux, and flow stability in a cooling passage of a rotating turbine blade. It has also indicated that existing technology is not adequate to design a liquid-cooled turbine with a high assurance of success or to optimize liquid-cooling systems for a given turbine application. Considerable basic and applied research on liquid cooling of gas turbines is still required. The report addresses specific areas where research is required.

INTRODUCTION

The major advancements and applications in cooled gas turbine engines to date have been with direct air cooling of the hot section parts. This has been due to the dominant influence of aircraft gas turbines wherein air cooling has been more attractive. Mechanical complexities associated with liquid-cooling systems along with inadequate heattransfer and coolant-flow data have contributed to the lag in its application to gas turbines.

The recent concern with our limited petroleum supply and the desire to reduce fuel consumption have rekindled interest in liquid cooling and its potential for permitting higher maximum gas temperatures, greater cycle efficiencies, and higher specific work outputs. Improvements in fabrication technology and nondestructive inspection techniques have added to the interest. The analyses described in references 1 and 2, for example, show the potential benefits of using water-cooled turbines in electric utility applications. The combined gas turbine — steam cycles studied in the references used water-cooled gas turbines and had higher thermal efficiencies and specific power outputs than those with current or advanced aircooled gas turbines. The resultant potential benefits are conservation of fuel usage, greater flexibility in the fuel used, and reductions in the cost of electricity.

As a consequence of this renewed interest, a review of basic and applied research related to the

liquid cooling of gas turbines has been conducted. The methods and information reviewed are more applicable to ground-based turbines such as those intended for electric utility peaking or combined cycle use. This is because the engine weight and design considerations used to incorporate liquid cooling into ground-based applications are less critical than those used in aircraft applications. The information contained in this report, however, is generally applicable to other gas turbines. The report reviews and discusses liquid-cooling methods and systems for turbines and the results from demonstrator turbines that have been built and tested. The physical mechanisms underlying heat transfer, pressure drop, flow stability, and critical heat flux of selected systems are also discussed. An assessment has been made of the state of the art and future requirements. Although personal inquiries on research and technology were made as late as mid-1977, the survey herein includes only available information published prior to that time.

A comprehensive bibliography of research related to the liquid cooling of gas turbines is also presented.

REVIEW OF PAST EFFORTS

Cooling Methods and Demonstrator Turbines

The liquid-cooling schemes that have been tried or proposed are reviewed in this section. Rigs or turbines that have been built and tested to evaluate the feasibility of these schemes are discussed concurrently. Rotor blade cooling is emphasized because the cooling of stationary parts is considered to be nearly within the state of the art; for completeness, liquid-cooled stator tests are also discussed. The physical mechanisms underlying heat transfer, pressure drop, and flow stability of selected systems are discussed in more detail in the Basic and Supportive Research section.

Forced Convection

The first method to be discussed, simple forced convection, is shown schematically in figure 1. Water taken on board the rotating turbine wheel through a seal moves radially outward along the disk and then circulates through cooling passages in the blade. The coolant then moves radially inward along the disk and exits through another seal. In this case forced convection is actually a misnomer; because of the density difference between the cold inlet tube and the hot outlet tube, the flow is driven by natural convection. Theoretically,


almost any coolant can be used with this system; however, water or steam is probably the only practical choice because of the possible leakage and guantities required. The main advantage of the forced-convection liquid-cooling method is the potential for obtaining low metal temperatures. This could be important to turbine hot section life if the heavier ash bearing fuels are used. The ash formed by the combustion of some fuels will form a coating on the hot parts. The ash contains sodium compounds which remove the oxide layer from protective coatings; the sodium compounds also depress the melting temperature of the superalloy material. Thus, if the hot part is not kept below this depressed melting temperature, corrosion of the molten surface layer will proceed rapidly. There is no agreement as to what the hot part surface temperature should be, but it is thought to be in the 756 to 1089 K (900° to 1500° F) range. Some other advantages of this system are the simplicity and easy recovery of heat from spent coolant. The main disadvantage of this system is the high coolant pressure within the blade if dense liquids such as water are used. For a typical, large, ground-based, electric utility gas turbine having a diameter of 2.07 meters (6.8 ft) and turning at 3600 rpm, the pressure at the blade tip would be over 75.845x106 pascals (11 000 psi). Another disadvantage of this scheme is that a high water flow rate is required to keep the coolant from becoming saturated and prevent net boiling. Also, foreign matter in the coolant could be centrifuged to the blade tips and block the cooling passages.

Several liquid-cooling demonstrators have used forced-convection systems. Figure 2 shows an

aluminum forced-convection water-cooled turbine blade tested at the NACA Lewis Flight Propulsion Laboratory. This work is described in Kottas and Sheflin (ref. 3), Bartoo and Freche (ref. 4), Freche and Diaguila (ref. 5), and Ellerbrock (ref. 6). In operation, water was pumped out the two radial passages nearest the leading edge. Near the blade tip drilled crossover passages conducted the water to the two radial trailing edge passages. The spent cooling water was taken off the rotor through the axial discharge hole shown in figure 2. Because the coolant outlet is at a larger radius than the inlet. work was taken off the wheel to pump coolant. Blade temperatures were kept extremely low; the highest measured temperature was 470 K (386° F). The maximum turbine inlet gas temperature was 1422 K (2100° F). The small number of relatively large cooling passages lead to high thermal gradients. Clogging of cooling passages was not found to be a problem, and no structural failures developed. The tests, however, were of short duration.

Figures 3(a) and (b) show the forced-convection cooling scheme used in an engine built by the Solar Aircraft Company. This work is described in references 7 to 9. The single-stage water-cooled turbine is shown in figure 3(a), and the water-cooled blade is shown in figure 3(b). The blade was made from a



Figure 2. - NACA forced-convection water-cooled aluminum turbine (ref. 3).



Ł

(a) Solar forced-convection single-stage water-cooled turbine.



(b) Blade cooling passages for Solar water-cooled turbine.

Figure 3. - Solar Aircraft Company forced-convection-cooled turbine (ref. 7).

3

low alloy steel with drilled radial cooling passages that were sealed at the tip by a welded tip cap. In highly stressed regions, the blade temperatures were kept below 700 K (800° F) with peak temperatures less than 867 K (1100° F) and the cooling water temperature was kept below 367 K (200° F). The turbine inlet temperature was 1228 K (1750° F) at a 4.87 to 1 overall pressure ratio. The large amount of heat removed from the cycle by the cooling water lowered the efficiency by an estimated 20 percent. The water-cooling scheme was successfully demonstrated, but blade tip cap failures indicated improved fabrication and inspection techniques were required.



(a) Forced convection with trailing edge ejection.



(b) Forced convection with tip ejection and collection. Figure 4. - Variations of forced-convection cooling scheme.

Two variations of the simple forced-convection cooling configuration are shown in figures 4(a) and (b). The first is forced convection with trailing edge ejection. Water is taken on board the wheel through a seal as before, but after circulating through the blade cooling passages it is discharged to the gas stream through orifices in the blade trailing edge. Although this configuration avoids the outlet seal, there are disadvantages. If the passages are filled with water, the high pressure at the tip still exists and the resulting high pressure drop across the discharge orifices will lead to high velocities and erosion of these orifices. Heat added to the coolant is not recoverable; in fact, the spent water lowers the gas stream temperature entering the next turbine stage. Any water not flashed to steam will impinge on downstream stages and cause erosion. No demonstrators have been built with this cooling scheme. The second variation. shown in figure 4(b), is forced convection with tip ejection and collection. Coolant is taken on board the wheel through a seal or other means and, after cooling the blade, is ejected at the tip. Some of the water in the blade can be allowed to vaporize, thus taking advantage of the heat of vaporization to lower coolant-flow requirements. At the stationary shroud a collector catches the unvaporized water that is slung from the blade tip. The ejected steam enters the gas stream. Advantages of this system are low coolant passage pressure, lower potential for cooling passage clogging because of tip ejection, and lower water consumption. Other advantages are potential recovery of waste heat from the collected coolant and elimination of one of the rotary seals. Disadvantages include erosion of the stationary shroud from water droplets, work taken off the wheel to pump coolant from a low to a high radius, erosion of downstream stages from uncollected water drops, and lowering the gas temperature entering downstream stages due to the mixing of steam and uncollected water. The collection of high velocity water droplets is not easy; the potential for erosion of the stationary shroud, collection slot, and downstream turbine stages is great. A disadvantage of both of these systems is that a relatively large quantity of high quality coolant is thrown away: this disadvantage would probably preclude using this method in aircraft applications.

Figure 5 shows the cooling concept used by General Electric and described in references 2, 10, and 11. This system is designed to be used in a combined gas turbine — steam cycle for generating electricity from coal-derived fuels. Spraying cooling water from stationary nozzles into the rotating gutter (shown in fig. 5) eliminates the need for a rotary seal. From the rotating gutter the cooling



Figure 5. - General Electric ultra-high-temperature-turbine cooling scheme.

water is routed into the cooling passages. The cooling water flow is controlled by a system of weirs at the base of the blade; this system is described in detail in Kydd (ref. 12), Moore (ref. 13), and Grondahl and Eskesen (ref. 14). From the blade cooling passages water then enters a manifold and exits at the blade tip through the converging-diverging nozzle. The flow rate is low enough that some of the water evaporates and enters the gas stream as steam; some of the remaining water is supposed to be caught and collected by the slot in the casing. This cooling concept minus the collection device has been successfully tested to as high as 1830 K (2850° F) at 16 atmospheres in a 24.7-centimeter-(9.7-in.-) diameter demonstrator turbine.

In summary, forced-convection water cooling can be a relatively simple and effective means for cooling high temperature gas turbines. Tip bleed of the water appears to be an effective method if an abundant supply of coolant exists such as in a ground-based machine. The tip bleed configuration avoids high internal fluid pressures and may eliminate some internal clogging problems. The method presents problems of recovery of the water and erosion by the exiting liquid. A major advantage of the forced-convection systems is the potential to cool hot parts to very low temperatures, which may provide protection from erosion and corrosion caused when heavier ash bearing fuels are used.

Thermosyphon

Â

In a thermosyphon heat is transported by moving a fluid, the fluid motion being caused by a density difference in a body force field. In the case of the turbine wheel, the body force field is the centrifuga force field caused by rotation, and it is proportional to the product of the radius and the square of rotational speed. This can be as high as 20 000 g's for a typical turbine; thus, there is a large potential for heat transfer. There are three basic types of thermosyphons: the closed thermosyphon, the open thermosyphon, and the closed-loop thermosyphon. *Closed thermosyphon.* — The closed thermopumber in illustrated in figure 6(a) in a turbing ap

syphon is illustrated in figure 6(a) in a turbine application. The thermosyphons form the cooling passages in the blade: each cooling passage is a







5

closed tube with the primary heat-transfer media (liquid or gas or both) sealed inside. Primary coolant near the tube wall is heated in the blade cooling passage; this hot, less dense, coolant flows inward toward the cool end and is displaced by cold, more dense fluid from the heat exchanger. This process is illustrated in figure 6(b). In the heat exchanger end of the tube, heat is removed from the primary fluid near the tube wall. This cool, more dense fluid moves outward toward the heated end. In the region between the heat exchanger and the blade cooling passage hot and cold fluids collide. Hot fluid flowing in annular-type flow in the cooling passage must find its way to the central core in the heat exchanger end and vice versa for the cold fluid in the heat exchanger. Several possible mechanisms for this transfer exist, and they are discussed in the Basic and Supportive Research section. A secondary coolant removes heat from the heat exchanger and carries it away. The secondary coolant could be water that is externally supplied, it could be the fuel, or it could be compressor discharge air that would be heated before entering the combustor. The latter two configurations would be applicable to aircraft systems, while water could be used for ground-based machines.

Another type of closed thermosyphon is the twophase thermosyphon or vapor chamber. This type has a similar construction, but the chamber is only partially filled with the working fluid. At the design condition the working fluid is vaporized in the blade cooling passage and recondenses at the cooled heat-exchanger end. Condensate runs outward in a film from the condenser end to the heated end, thus cooling the blade.

Since the closed thermosyphon is completely sealed, clogging by foreign matter is not a problem; also, the coolant pressure within the blades can be maintained lower than that for some other systems. The choice of primary working fluid is not limited as with other systems; thus, liquid metals or boiling and condensing liquids with their excellent heattransfer characteristics can be considered. On the negative side, should a crack in the blade material develop, primary coolant can be lost and cooling will no longer take place. The closed thermosyphon system requires a primary to secondary coolant heat exchanger. It may be difficult to find adequate space on the turbine wheel for this and it may also be costly. If the working fluid and the thermosyphon wall material are not compatable, corrosion could cause clogging or impede efficiency for longterm operation.

Cohen and Bayley (ref. 15) performed experiments on closed thermosyphon tubes in a rotating rig to simulate a turbine environment. The tubes had their axes oriented radially with respect to the axis of rotation and were filled with various quantities of mercury. The outer half of each tube was heated with hot air, while the inner half was cooled with cold air. It was found that the heat-transfer rate was independent of the amount of mercury in the tube after a certain critical volume was reached. Bayley and Bell (ref. 16) used the same rig to test tubes filled with various quantities of mercury up to 440 g's. Their results were similar to those of Cohen and Bayley (ref. 15).

In the early 1960's the General Electric Company demonstrated a liquid-metal-cooled turbine rotor as reported by Suciu (ref. 17). Not much information is available on this work. All that is known



Figure 7. - Schematic diagram of semiclosed thermosyphon (ref. 20).

is that the blade was run at temperatures over 1478 K (2200° F) and was cooled by closed thermosyphons partially filled with a liquid metal. Heat was extracted at the blade base by an air heat exchanger. It was reported that the heat flux at the leading edge was increased by a factor of 4 over air cooling.

Genot and LeGrives (ref. 18) and LeGrives and Genot (ref. 19) found similar results in a rotating rig with a liquid-metal closed thermosyphon. They concluded that the closed thermosyphon could compete with film cooling as a viable cooling scheme for aircraft engines.

Ogale (ref. 20) ran experiments on a modified closed thermosyphon that he called a "semiclosed" thermosyphon. This device, illustrated in figure 7, had a larger hydraulic diameter at the cooled end than at the heated end: this was supposed to allow a shorter length heat exchanger section. The thermosyphon was filled with liquid metal and the secondary coolant was distilled water. The cross section of the heated end had a shape similar to that of a turbine blade. The experiments were conducted on a rotating rig to simulate the large centrifugal force field of a turbine. Overall heat-transfer coefficients were 3 to 4 times lower for the semi-closed thermosyphon than they were for the ordinary closed thermosyphon of other investigators.

Open thermosyphon. — Figure 8(a) shows the open thermosyphon system, and figure 8(b) shows the cross section of a single cooling passage. The coolant enters a cavity or reservoir at the base of the blade. Cooling passages in the blade are open to this reservoir, and the fresh, more dense coolant in the reservoir displaces the hot fluid in the cooling passages. The hot fluid from the blade then mixes with the fluid in the reservoir that is continually being drained off and replaced with a cool fluid from the inlet.

Advantages of this system are its simplicity and that no heat exchanger is required. Fluid pressure at the blade tip is a function of the location of the free surface in the reservoir; thus, pressure within the blade can be lower than that for other systems. A disadvantage of the open thermosyphon is that foreign matter in the coolant can collect at the blade tips because the cooling passages are blind holes. If the length to diameter ratio of the thermosyphon is too large, performance will suffer because of the growth and mixing of the boundary layers of hot and cold fluids flowing in opposite directions. Bayley and Martin (ref. 21) state that water is the only practical coolant for the open thermosyphon system. Water, however, can be chemically active so corrosion could be a problem.

An open thermosyphon cooled turbine was

1









designed by Ernst H. W. Schmidt during World War II in Germany. Test results on this turbine are reported in Smith and Pearson (ref. 22). The turbine operated for about 50 hours at 1367 K (2000° F) and achieved 2 hours of running at 1533 K (2300° F). The inlet pressure was only 1.2 atmospheres, which meant a relatively low heat load compared to a modern turbine. A four-stage turbine fabricated in Germany was taken to England and tested after the war. Results of the test are given in Robinson (ref. 23), and the operation is described in Schmidt (ref. 24). Figure 9 shows a cross section of the rotor.



Figure 9. - Schmidt turbine (ref. 24).

The blade cooling passages are open thermosyphons, and the reservoir consists of a ring of water held against the hollow disk by centrifugal force. Hof water moves to the free surface of the water ring where it evaporates and carries away the heat. Steam thus generated is removed through a port at the drum centerline. Several problems developed during testing. The drum and blades were machined



Figure 10. - NACA open-thermosyphon water-cooled turbine (ref. 4).

from low alloy steel and were subjected to corrosion from the water coolant. When testing was completed, several cooling passages had been completely corroded through and most of the cooling passages were blocked with iron oxide. The turbine was tested to 923 K (1202° F), but it was only able to achieve 61 percent of design speed because of vibration. The source of vibration was not known, but it was speculated to be caused by boiling in the cooling passages or by instabilities in the water ring.

Figure 10 shows an open thermosyphon, watercooled turbine blade tested at the NACA Lewis Flight Propulsion Labratory. Results of the work are reported in Bartoo and Freche (ref. 4), Freche and Diaguilia (ref. 5), Ellerbrock (ref. 6), Freche (ref. 25), Freche and Schum (ref. 26), and Curren and Zalabak (ref. 27). As shown in figure 10, water was sprayed into a rotating gutter from stationary nozzles before it flowed through holes in the disk to a cavity or reservoir between the blade base and the disk. This water then circulated through open thermosyphons in the blades. The heated water from the thermosyphon then mixed with the cooler water in the reservoir at the blade base; this mixed coolant was continuously taken off the wheel through exit holes. The maximum gas temperature of 1222 K (1740° F) resulted in an average blade temperature of 450 K (350° F) and a maximum measured blade temperature of 739 K (870° F) at the trailing edge. It was found that increasing the coolant flow could lower the average blade temperature but not the maximum temperature. An improvement in the cooling effectiveness of passages

8



(a) Possible turbine cooling configuration.

Figure II. - Closed-loop thermosyphon system.

with large length to diameter ratios was obtained when they were connected by tip crossover passages to cooling passages with smaller length to diameter ratios as reported in Zalabak and Curren (ref. 28). This arrangement let cool fluid from the larger diameter passage flow unidirectionally down the small passage; the problem of hot and cold fluid flowing in opposite directions and mixing in long thin passages was relieved in this manner. This arrangement might be called an open-loop thermosyphon The open-loop thermosyphon seems to be the most practical of the open thermosyphon configurations; however, no other known research has been conducted.

Closed-loop thermosyphon. — The third type of thermosyphon is the closed-loop thermosyphon shown in figure 11(a) in a possible turbine blade cooling configuration. Details of the blade cooling passages and heat exchanger are depicted in figure 11(b). Instead of the coolant flowing in two directions simultaneously in the cooling passages as in the closed or open thermosyphons, it flows in one direction in each passage. Cool, more dense fluid moves radially outward through the large central feed passages and is then manifolded at the tip to flow radially inward through the small cooling passages around the perimeter of the blade. Heated

fluid in the cooling passages then moves inward to a heat exchanger where it is cooled by a secondary coolant.

The closed-loop thermosyphon has the same advantages and disadvantages as the closed thermosyphon. However, because flow is unidirectional in all the passages, much longer passages can be utilized. Long, thin passages may be necessary in the turbine application to minimize thermal aradients.

A closed-loop thermosyphon cooling scheme was demonstrated in an engine designed to run at 1533 K (2300° F) by the Continental Aviation and Engineering Corporation. The work is described in Gabel (ref. 29), Gabel and Tabbey (ref. 30), and Johnson (ref. 31). Figure 12(a) shows a schematic of the closed-loop thermosyphon. The primary coolant used was steam and the secondary coolant was fuel. As shown in figure 12(b), a cross section of the combustor and turbine, fuel is taken on board the wheel through a seal at the right end. The fuel then circulates through the heat exchanger that extends down past the blade base into a cavity in the disk. After removing heat from the steam, the fuel flows through the hollow shaft to the combustor where it is sprayed from a slinger and burned. The heat removed from the blades can thus be added back to



(a) Flow schematic for Continental turbine.



(b) Cross section of turbine and combustor.

Figure 12, - Continental Aviation and Engineering Corporation closed-loop thermosyphon turbine demonstrator (ref. 30).

the cycle through the fuel. Several hundred hours of elevated temperature testing were accomplished with a maximum temperature of 1617 K (2450° F). Twenty-one hours were accumulated above 1422 K (2100° F). When the gas temperature was 1417 K (2090° F), blade temperatures were measured to be between 850 and 1072 K (1070° and 1470° F). Several blade failures were encountered: the cause of the blade failures was believed to be the loss of primary coolant through cracks in the blades or welds. Better nondestructive testing procedures might have eliminated this problem.

Summary. — Thermosyphons provide another means of cooling high temperature gas turbines. The closed-loop thermosyphon appears particularly attractive in systems where coolant cannot be thrown away as in aircraft applications. Another advantage of the closed-loop system is that it is free from clogging by foreign matter in the coolant. The







main disadvantage of all the closed systems is that if the primary coolant escapes through cracks all cooling stops. The open-loop and closed-loop thermosyphons are attractive for systems where long, thin passages must be used. The open-loop thermosyphon system is particularly attractive because coolant leaks in the blade would not lead to blade failure from loss of coolant. However, it does have the disadvantage of possibly being clogged by foreign material from the coolant.

Other Cooling Methods

Cooled cooling air. — A different method of using liquid to allow operation at higher turbine inlet temperatures is to lower the temperature of the compressor discharge air used for turbine cooling. Figure 13 shows two proposed methods of accomplishing this. In figure 13(a) compressor discharge air used for cooling the hot section components is

passed through a heat exchanger where it gives up heat to a secondary liquid coolant. The cooled cooling air then goes to conventional air-cooled vanes and blades. Advantages of this method are that state-of-the-art hardware can be used and that high liquid-coolant pressures and the potential for erosion by liquid are avoided. It may be feasible to use fuel to cool the cooling air; thus, the heat removed from the cooling air could be added back to the gas turbine cycle directly. This scheme could be readily adapted to aircraft application. Edwards (ref. 32) calculates that, if fuel were available at 423 K (301° F) at a fuel to air ratio of 0.025, a cooling air flow rate of 6 percent of the main flow could be cooled by 260 K (468° F), assuming the fuel could be heated to 646 K (703° F) without coking. It was assumed that for aircraft applications the fuel would be used as a heat sink for various engine accessories and would, therefore, already be heated to 423 K (301° F). If other liquids are used, it is possible that heat removed from the cooling air by the liquid could be used elsewhere in the cycle. The main disadvantage is the added complexity and cost of the heat exchanger.



Figure 14. - Spray cooling configuration.

I

Edwards (ref. 32) also described the system shown in figure 13(b). In this system water is sprayed directly into the hot cooling air: this water vaporizes and cools the cooling air. Although this scheme would not be as practical for aircraft use, except for emergency or intermittant use, it would be simple to implement in a ground-based turbine where the extra weight of the water coolant would not pose a penalty. Edwards states that by injecting 10 percent water into the cooling air the temperature could be reduced from 700 to 440 K (800° to 332° F). This could allow the turbine inlet temperature to be increased by about 100 K (180° F). The obvious advantage of this system is the elimination of a costly heat exchanger. A disadvantage is that minerals in the water could clog the small cooling passages or film cooling holes; thus, demineralized or treated water should be used.

Goodyer and Waterston (ref. 33) proposed adding water mist to the cooling air to increase its cooling capacity as well as lower its temperature. They measured heat-transfer coefficients of an impinging air-water mist. The addition of 6 percent water by weight doubled the heat-transfer coefficient of an impinging air jet.

Spray cooling. — Spray cooling is illustrated in figure 14. Water is sprayed from stationary nozzles or nozzles in the rotating blade bases onto the exterior of the rotating blades. The evaporating water cools the blade surface. The spray cooling scheme was investigated at the NACA Lewis Flight Propulsion Laboratory and elsewhere to determine the feasibility of using it to allow increased turbine speed and temperature and thus increased thrust during takeoff. The work is reported in Freche and McKinnon (ref. 34), Freche and McKinnon (ref. 35), Burke and Kemeny (ref. 36), Freche and Hickel (ref. 37), and McKinnon and Freche (ref. 38). With a 1127 K (1568° F) turbine inlet temperature, blade temperatures of 418 K (292° F) were measured. The cyclic application of the water spray cooling technique caused thermal shock failure of the blades. Because of this, it was never used on an aircraft. The large quantities of water required make the system impractical for steady-state use.

Sweat cooling. — Sweat cooling, as the name implies, uses a liquid coolant that seeps through pores in the blade wall and evaporates from the blade surface. The air-cooled counterpart of sweat cooling is transpiration cooling. In order to control coolant flow distribution and flow rates, very fine pores would be required in the blade. These would be subjected to clogging from foreign matter in the coolant as well as plugging from corrosion. Sweat cooling has not been tried in a turbine application.

Summary. — Of the three methods discussed herein, the most practical is the cooled cooling air.



Figure 15. - NACA forced-convection water-cooled stator (ref. 4).

Stator Blade Cooling

A water-cooled stator was tested by the NACA Lewis Laboratory; figure 15 shows the cooling scheme. Results reported in Freche and Diaguila (ref. 5) indicate that high trailing edge temperatures were the only problem. Figure 15 shows that because of the hole spacing a high trailing edge temperature would be expected.

May (refs. 39 and 40) used a static cascade to test a forced-convection-cooled rotor blade. The cooling scheme consisted of four drilled holes connected by a manifold at the blade tip. Using an organic fluid as the coolant allowed operation at coolant temperatures up to 673 K (752° F) at 1.11x10⁶ pascals (161 psi) without boiling in the passage. The maximum turbine inlet temperature tested was 1573 K (2372° F). The maximum measured blade temperature was 1013 K (1364° F) at the trailing edge. Thermal gradients were very high — of the order of 444 K (800° F).

Stappenbeck and Moskowitz (ref. 41) tested liquid-metal-cooled stator vanes in the rig shown schematically in figure 16. An air — liquid metal heat exchanger was included in the coolant loop to simulate recuperative heating of compressor discharge air. A maximum gas temperature of 1894 K (2950° F) was achieved with no failures; however, the total test duration was short. Current technology liquid metal pumps were found to be heavy and cumbersome.



Figure 16. - Flow schematic of Curtiss-Wright liquid-metal-cooled static cascade (ref. 41).

12

1



Figure 17. - Heat-transfer regions on T-S diagram.

BASIC AND SUPPORTIVE RESEARCH

In this section the physical mechanisms underlying the heat transfer and fluid flow involved in each of the cooling schemes mentioned previously are discussed. The basic and applied research that has been conducted on these mechanisms is also discussed. Forced-convection heat transfer and fluid flow processes are reviewed for each region on the temperature-entropy (T-S) diagram of the coolant. These regions were defined by Hendricks, Simoneau, and Smith (ref. 42). The discussions address the status of heat transfer, pressure drop, critical heat flux, and flow stability research and information as applied to each of the regions. Natural-convection heat transfer and fluid flow processes are reviewed for each of the three types of thermosyphons previously discussed.

Temperature-Entropy Diagram

The T-S diagram for water is shown in figure 17. Water was chosen because it may be the most practical fluid for turbine cooling applications; however, the T-S diagram of other fluids can be divided into the same regions as those to be discussed herein.

In region I the fluid is all in the gas phase; in the case of water, it is superheated steam. Region II is the all-liquid region. Region III is the two-phase

region: both liquid and gas phases are present here. Region IV is the so-called near-critical region: here large changes in thermal properties as well as some physical properties with temperature and pressure make heat transfer and fluid flow modeling difficult.



13

Forced Convection

Region I (Superheated Steam) Eckert, Diaguila, and Current (ref. 43) conducted experiments with air flowing up a vertical, 3.66meter-(12-ft-) long stationary tube with a length to diameter ratio of 5. The test setup enabled them to obtain very large Grashof numbers. They concluded that either forced convection, natural convection, or mixed convection dominates, depending on the Reynolds and Grashof numbers as shown in figure 18. On the upper shaded portion (labeled Forced convection) of the figure, free convection contributes less than 10 percent to the total heat transfer. On the lower shaded portion (labeled Natural convection), forced convection contributes less than 10 percent to heat transfer. In the area in the middle neither mode of heat transfer is dominant. Eckert, Diaguila, and Livingood (ref. 44) recommended using the larger of either forced- or natural-convection heat-transfer coefficient predictions in the mixed regime. They also imply that data for short tubes (length to diameter ratio of about 5) can be applied to longer tubes. Even though Rayleigh numbers (product of Grashof and Prandtl numbers) were very large, these experiments did not simulate heat transfer in a rotating environment because no Coriolis forces were involved.

Mori et al. (ref. 45) conducted heat-transfer experiments on air flowing in a straight tube rotating perpendicular to its axis. Their experiments show that up to about 5 000 g's for already turbulent flow the rotation increases the heat transfer slightly (about 10 percent). For laminar flow a substantial increase in heat transfer and a nonuniform distribution of Nusselt number around the passage periphery occurs. The effect of increasing heat transfer with rotation is shown in figures 19(a) and (b) for the laminar and turbulent cases, respectively. For already turbulent flow it appears that the Dittus-Boelter correlation (ref. 46) could be used to predict heat-transfer coefficients within slightly less than 20-percent error. Klick and Wegner (ref. 47) show similar results for both air and water. They report an increase in the critical Reynolds number at which transition to turbulent flow occurs with rotation.

In summary, in region I the large acceleration present due to rotation brings free convection into play for a forced-convection configuration. Either forced convection or free convection was found to be dominant for the static case depending on the relative magnitudes of the Reynolds and Grashof numbers. Limited data for the rotating case indicate that for turbulent flow a forced-convection heat-transfer correlation could be used.

Region II (Liquid Water)

Two possible cases arise in region II. If the pressure is above the critical pressure, no local boiling will occur. If the pressure is below the critical pressure, subcooled boiling can occur.

In turbines with forced-convection cooling schemes similar to that shown in figure 1, the coolant pressure within the blades will be supercritical. If coolant flow rates are high enough, the coolant temperature will remain subcritical and all liquid flow will result. The results of Mori et al. (ref. 45) are probably true for liquids as well as gasses; thus, for turbulent flow the Dittus-Boelter correlation for heat transfer in a pipe could be used along with the results of Eckert et al. (refs. 43 and 44).

Johnson (ref. 48) used a rotating rig and simulated the cooling passages of a forced-convection water-cooled turbine. His results indicate that heat transfer at high Rayleigh numbers is less influenced by free convection than extrapolated results from lower Rayleigh numbers would predict.

Scheele, Rosen, and Hanratty (ref. 49) conducted experiments for both upflow and downflow of water in a heated tube. They observed a dye trace to determine when transition from laminar flow occurred. They found that, for both vertical upflow and downflow, laminar flow could become unstable at Reynolds numbers below the forced flow critical value if the heating rate were above a certain critical level. For upflow only, the critical heating rate was a function of the tube length to diameter ratio. This seems to be in conflict with the data of Klick and Wegner (ref. 47), but in the case of reference 49, no Coriolis forces are present. Thus, it appears that data from static rigs cannot be safely extrapolated to the rotating case to predict laminar to turbulent transition.

By Reynolds analogy, if turbulent heat transfer in rotating passages can be predicted by the pipe flow correlations, then the frictional pressure drop through the cooling passages for high-pressure liquid flow can probably be calculated from pipe flow relations. To this must be added the contribution of momentum and centrifugal pressure changes in the rotating system. The pressure loss due to friction is probably small when compared to the pressure drops due to momentum change (flow around corners and area changes) through the system.

Cooling schemes with trailing edge or tip ejection similar to those shown in figure 4 could have the coolant pressure below the critical pressure. In this case, subcooled boiling is possible unless the blade metal temperature is maintained below the incipient boiling point. The latter would require excessive coolant flow and would result in too much heat loss from the gas turbine cycle to be practical. Rohsenow and Hartnett (ref. 50) and Hsu and

Graham (ref. 51) present good reviews of subcooled boiling literature for the nonrotating case. Rohsenow and Hartnett recommend a correlation for heat-transfer coefficients based on the sum of the calculated pool boiling and forced-convection heat fluxes. Gray et al. (ref. 52) and Marto and Gray (ref. 53) obtained boiling data for a rotating boiler at up to 475 g's. They found that boiling heat-transfer coefficients increased with acceleration at low heat fluxes but were independent of acceleration at high fluxes (fig. 20). The data in figure 20 are essentially for pool boiling at high acceleration where the g-vector was perpendicular to the heated wall; for the case of a turbine, the orientation of the g-force will be parallel to the wall. Symons and Bonamy (ref. 54) show with a theoretical model verified by photographic data that the orientation of the boiling surface with respect to flow direction has a substantial effect on cooling capacity. This is due to the change in bubble frequency. The high g-field and Coriolis forces present in the turbine case are sure to affect bubble production and dynamics and thus heat transfer. No known work has been done on subcooled boiling heat transfer in a rotating tube.

Hsu and Graham (ref. 51) show that increased



Figure 20. - Effect of gravity on heat flux as function of wall superheat (Gray and Marto, ref. 54).

1

acceleration has little effect on nucleate boiling heat transfer; however, their results are based on data where the heat flux and acceleration vectors are parallel and accelerations are moderate. They reason that the dominant mode of heat transfer is evaporation from a microlayer of liquid between the bubble and the heated surface and that other modes such as liquid-vapor exchange and microconvection are secondary. In the liquid-vapor exchange mechanism it is theorized that the bubbles leaving the heated surface drag hot fluid away from the wall and thus allow cool fluid to contact the wall. The microconvection theory assumes that bubble growth velocity is large enough to enhance liquid convection and produce the large heattransfer coefficients of nucleate boiling. When the acceleration is increased to 20 000 g's and the gravity and heat flux vectors are no longer parallel, liquid-vapor exchange, microconvection, or convection alone may become dominant. Limited basic heat-transfer and passage wetting research is being conducted at the General Electric Company; some of these results are reported in reference 55.

Subcooled boiling pressure drop for low pressures is treated by Stone (ref. 56). His correlation contains an orientation parameter to account for gravity effects, but data are only available for 1 g. For high pressures Thom (ref. 57) extended the method of Martinelli and Nelson (ref. 58) for horizontal flow to include a contribution to pressure loss from gravity in vertical flow. A correlation based on vertical upflow in tubes at 1 g is presented; however, no data are available for the rotating case or for higher accelerations.

When dealing with boiling heat transfer, critical heat flux must also be considered. Critical heat flux (also termed burnout, boiling crisis, departure from nucleate boiling (DNB), onset of dry-wall boiling) occurs at high heat flux when the rate of production of vapor is so great that liquid is held away from the wall. At the onset of critical heat flux, heat-transfer coefficients can decrease by an order of magnitude. For the low quality regime Gambill (ref. 59) combines forced-convection and pool-boiling terms to obtain a correlation for critical heat flux for a wide range of conditions and geometries. Other critical heat flux correlations are reviewed by Rohsenow and Hartnett (ref. 50) and Hsu and Graham (ref. 51). Also discussed are the effects on critical heat flux of nonuniform axial heat flux, wall roughness, and swirling the flow with tube inserts. No data are available for critical flux in rotating tubes.

Another complication that arises with boiling is that of flow stability. Lowdermilk, Lanzo, and Siegel (ref. 60) performed experiments on a vertical tube

- 346 3



Figure 21. - Effect of flow restriction on flow stability and burnout (Lowdermilk, Lanzo, and Siegel, ref. 61),

to obtain critical heat flux data. They found that a compressible volume upstream of the heated section caused the flow to become unstable near the point of critical heat flux. Even gas bubbles in the upstream liquid could cause the instability. This instability reduced the critical heat flux considerably. They point out that flow in parallel passages would behave essentially the same as having a compressible volume upstream of the heated section; most turbine blade cooling applications would probably use parallel passages. Thus, stability may be a problem in the turbine application. They found that flow could be stabilized by restricting the inlet to the heated section, which isolated the heated section from the compressible volume. Figure 21 shows the effect of increasing pressure drop upstream of the heated section on critical heat flux. Similar results obtained by Bergles (ref. 61) show that the effects of upstream compressibility were especially destabilizing for flow in small diameter tubes. Bergles found that with stable flow small diameter tubes produced significantly higher critical heat flux than that predicted by the Gambill and several other correlations as shown in figure 22.

Gouse and Andrysiak (ref. 62) showed that instability could result only if boiling occurred in the passage. No instabilities resulted from air-water flows if bubbles were kept out of the pump. Airwater flows are often used to simulate two-phase flows. They found that decreasing the heat flux or increasing the mass flow stabilized the system.

Various two-phase flow instabilities are reviewed by Tong (ref. 63), Boure, Bergles, and Tong (ref. 64), and Hsu and Graham (ref. 51). Both static and dynamic instabilities are discussed. The most common static instability is a sudden change in flow rate to a lower value; this instability occurs, as illustrated in figure 23, when there is more than one intersection of the pump and boiling passage pres-



Figure 22. - Influence of velocity and subcooling in burnout heat flux (Bergles, ref. 62).



Figure 23. ~ Multiple intersection of flow channel and pump characteristic curves.

sure drop versus flow rate curves. The negative slope of the passage pressure drop curve is caused by vapor generation which increases the pressure drop in the passage as the flow is decreased. It is not known if this type of instability will occur in rotating passages. Associated with dynamic instabilities are acoustic waves and density waves. Acoustic waves are high frequency and generally accompany flow passage vibrations. Density waves are the most common form of dynamic instability. They can occur when a restriction downstream of the heated section passes a vapor bubble; the pressure drop is decreased because of the lower density of the vapor. Flow in the heated section then increases and less vapor is generated because the liquid spends less time in the heated section. The liquid now passes through the downstream restriction and flow decreases; this results in more vapor being generated. The cycle then repeats. The effect of rotation and high acceleration on flow stability is unknown because, among other reasons, the dynamics of bubble motion are dependent on flow configuration.

In summary, for all-liquid flow at supercritical pressure the forced-convection heat-transfer and friction correlations for turbulent pipe flow probably apply. Laminar to turbulent transition cannot be predicted from static data. For subcooled boiling, there are heat transfer, pressure drop, and critical heat flux correlations available for the static case; however, it is not known if these correlations will apply to the rotating case. Boiling flow stability could become a problem with the parallel cooling passages in a turbine blade.

Region III (Two-Phase Flow)

Operation in region III is attractive for several reasons. Because the average density of a homogeneous, two-phase mixture is less than the liquid phase alone, the pressure in the blade cooling passages will be lower than for an all liquid system. The temperature of the two-phase mixture is only a function of pressure (if equilibrium is assumed which may not be the true case); thus, the coolant will be at nearly constant temperature as it flows through the blade. Less coolant flow is required because heat is absorbed at constant temperature by the fluid as it vaporizes. A possible drawback of using a two-phase mixture in a rotating environment is that the phases may be separated by centrifugal and Coriolis forces. Because of Coriolis forces the liquid droplets are expected to strike the walls of the feed tubes and cooling passages and be deposited there. In the cooling passages this would be desirable since an annular-type flow would benefit heat transfer, but in feed tubes it could lead to poor coolant distribution in the blade.

In a multipassage blade this could cause liquid starvation in some passages and flooding in others. It is not known if the rate of reentrainment of liquid droplets will be sufficient to compensate for the droplets that are lost by striking the walls of supply tubes.

When dealing with two-phase flows several flow patterns are possible. Heat-transfer and pressuredrop characteristics are determined by the flow pattern. Figure 24 illustrates several possible cases for flow up a vertical heated tube. At the bottom, the bulk temperature of the liquid is below the



Figure 24. - Two-phase flow patterns in vertical heated channel.

saturation temperature. If the wall temperature is equal to or above the incipient boiling point, however, local boiling at the wall will take place. The vapor bubbles formed are cooled by the subcooled liquid and collapse. As fluid moves farther up the tube it reaches the saturation temperature. Vapor bubbles produced near the wall no longer collapse; this is the bubbly flow regime. Farther up the tube vapor bubbles agglomerate and form vapor slugs separated by liquid bridges; this is slug flow. Still further up the tube the liquid bridges disappear and annular flow results; there is an annulus of boiling water at the wall, and the core is a mixture of vapor and liquid droplets. There is a constant exchange of liquid between the annulus and the core. While droplets are striking the liquid annulus and being absorbed, new droplets are being formed from the annulus by the shearing action between the faster moving gas and the slower moving liquid. Finally, the liquid at the wall is either completely evaporated or thrown off because of vigorous boiling; this is the mist flow regime. Wall temperatures are much higher in this regime because of lower heat transfer. These flow patterns are possible for downflow and horizontal flow as well as vertical upflow; however, the conditions under which they exist will be different.

Heat transfer in the two-phase region for annular flow is treated by Chen (ref. 65) who developed a correlation for annular, vertical upflow in a tube for 1 to 70 percent quality. He combined a macroscopic term associated with forced convection and a microscopic term associated with bubble nucleation and growth. The macroscopic term is the Dittus-Boelter correlation for turbulent pipe heat transfer multiplied by a function of the Martinelli parameter (ref. 58). The microscopic term is the pool-boiling heat-transfer correlation of Forster and Zuber (ref. 66). The Chen correlation agrees well with many sets of data for water and other fluids.

Downflow boiling in a nonrotating tube was compared to that of upflow by Thorsen et al. (ref. 67). They concluded that the Martinelli method (ref. 58) could be used to calculate pressure drop in upflow but that it did not apply to downflow. They also concluded that Rohsenow's superposition method (ref. 50) of calculating forced-convection-boiling heat transfer was a valid correlation method for both upflow and downflow at low pressures but not at high pressures. For a given wall superheat, larger heat fluxes were measured for upflow than for downflow.

Stone, Gray, and Gutierrez (ref. 68) present a review of the literature and several experimental studies applied to once-through boilers. They state that in the net boiling region (the region where vapor is produced and does not recondense) correlations in terms of the Martinelli parameter (ref. 58), such as Chen's correlation (ref. 65), are inadequate because they do not account for increases in the heat-transfer coefficient with pressure. They also state that nothing better exists.

There are no data available for forced-convection heat transfer in the two-phase region in a rotating environment. The large centrifugal and Coriolis forces present may cause deviation of the flow pattern from that of the stationary case and change the heat-transfer characteristics.

Martinelli and Nelson (ref. 58) proposed that twophase pressure drop for flow in a horizontal tube could be calculated by superimposing friction and momentum change terms. Thom (ref. 57) extended the method to vertical tubes by including a gravity term. Subbotin et al. (ref. 69) made measurements of void fraction and friction for two-phase flows at high pressure that agree well with Thom's correlation. Hsu and Graham (ref. 51) give a review of methods of computing pressure drop for two-phase flows. They recommend the Thom method for high pressure, greater than 1.4x10^s pascals (200 psia), and the Martinelli correlation for lower pressures. Thom's method can be extended to the rotating case by substituting centrifugal force for the gravity term. The validity of this extrapolation is not known since no data exist at other than 1 g.

Hsu and Graham (ref. 51) define three mechanisms for critical heat flux in two-phase flow: liquid film dryout in annular flow, dry patch under a bubble, and dryout of the film surrounding a bubble in slug flow. They reason that the different mechanisms of critical heat flux are affected by different variables. The turbine application further complicates the problem with the large centrifugal and Coriolis forces and nonuniform passage heating.

Butterworth (ref. 70) developed a critical heat flux model for circumferentially nonuniformly heated tubes. Critical heat flux was assumed to occur at the point where the liquid film on the wall dried out. Whalley, Hutchinson, and Hewitt (ref. 71) presented a similar model for the critical heat flux for vertical annular flow. The model was able to predict not only critical flux but pressure drop and void fraction. These models require a knowledge of liquid droplet deposition and entrainment rates; only limited data are available for the 1-g stationary case, and none are available for the case of a rotating tube.

Nonuniform passage heating is likely to occur in the turbine blade cooling application. Chojnowski and Wilson (ref. 72) obtained critical heat flux data for vertical upflow of water in a tube heated both uniformly and on one side. Their data indicate that critical flux may be higher for nonuniformly heated tubes. The model of Butterworth (ref. 70) predicted



Figure 25. - "Inlet effect" for supercritical water flowing up heated tubes (Swenson et al., ref. 75).

critical fluxes that were higher than the experimental flux data.

Usenko and Fainzil'berg (ref. 73) present data for pool-boiling critical heat flux at accelerations up to 5000 g's. They found that the critical flux increased as acceleration to the 0.24 power. This trend is in agreement with the critical heat flux correlation of Gambill (ref. 59).

Many correlations based on experimental data exist; however, since these correlations do not take into account the physical mechanism of critical heat flux, they can only be used in the range of data for which they were obtained. The available correlations probably will not be valid for the passages of a rotating turbine blade. There are no critical heat flux data for a rotating passage.

As in subcooled boiling, unstable flow conditions can lead to critical heat flux at lower heat flux. Stability for two-phase flow is governed by the previously discussed criterion for subcooled boiling.

In summary, operation in the two-phase region is desirable because lower fluid pressures are possible in the blade and because coolant remains at constant temperature within the blade. Poor coolant distribution may result from the separation of the phases because of centrifugal and Coriolis forces. Heat transfer, pressure drop, and critical heat flux correlations exist for the static case; however, it is not known if these correlations can be successfully extended to the rotating case.

Region IV (Near Critical)

Schmidt (ref. 24) recommended operation in the near-critical region for turbine blade-cooling applications. His reasoning was that large property changes in this region resulted in improved naturalconvection heat transfer.

Many experiments have been conducted and attempts have been made to correlate supercritical heat-transfer data. One of these investigations was done by Swenson, Carver, and Kakarala (ref. 74). They measured heat transfer for vertical upflow of water in a tube at supercritical pressures and developed a Dittus-Boelter (ref. 46) type correlation using a modified Prandtl number for "fully developed" flow. They observed large "inlet effects" which caused sharp changes in the heat-transfer coefficient. Whether the heat-transfer coefficients increased or decreased depended on whether the inlet temperature was above or below the pseudocritical temperature. These results are shown in figure 25.

Hall (ref. 75) states that near the critical point large changes in property values can cause large bouyancy forces. He shows analytically that bouyant forces become important when the Grashoff number divided by the Reynolds number to the 2.7 power is greater than 1.16x10⁵. Hall reasons that when flow is upward (against gravity) bouyant forces at the heated wall are also upward and therefore reduce the production of turbulence with an accompanying reduction in heat transfer. With downward flow the opposite is true.

While studying the heat-transfer and coking characteristics of jet fuel at near critical conditions, Faith et al. (ref. 76) experienced large, unexpected pressure fluctuations. Pressure fluctuations of 2.4x10⁶ pascals (350 psi) with a system pressure of 3.45x10⁶ pascals (500 psi) were observed. Pressure fluctuations were less severe when the system pressure was 6.9x10⁶ pascals (1000 psi), which is farther from the critical pressure.

Hendricks, Simoneau, and Smith (ref. 42) give a review of heat transfer near the critical region. They state that some near-critical thermal properties are not well known. They found that proximity to the critical point produces sharp changes in wall temperature; these wall temperature spikes are a function of both heat flux and mass flux. Figure 26 shows a typical curve which divides the heat flux — mass flux plane into normal and abnormal regions. In the abnormal region temperature spikes occur and heat-transfer results are not correlatable. They state that no analysis as yet is capable of modeling all aspects of near-critical behavior.

In summary, some experiments have indicated

1000



Figure 26. - Typical map of heat flux as function of mass flux (Hendricks, Simoneau, and Smith, ref. 44).

that operation in the near-critical region is desirable because of large changes in density near the critical point which would enhance heat transfer. Other work indicates that proximity to the critcal point produces unexpected pressure oscillations and wall temperature spikes. No analysis is capable of modeling all aspects of near-critical behavior.

Free Convection

Open Thermosyphon

Eckert and Jackson (ref. 77) used the Karman-Pohlhausen boundary-layer analysis technique to investigate the open thermosyphon analytically. They showed that thermosyphons with large length to diameter ratios did not perform as well as shorter tubes because the boundary layers of hot and cold fluid flowing in opposite directions grew together and would then mix and raise the effective coolant temperature.

Eckert and Diaguila (ref. 78) used a large, vertical heated tube in air to obtain Grashof numbers between 10⁸ and 10¹³. These large Grashof numbers simulated expected conditions in a turbine; however, the tube tested had a length to diameter ratio of about 5, which is too small for most turbine blade applications. Coriolis forces were not simulated in the tests.

Lighthill (ref. 79) used approximate solutions to the boundary-layer equations to study the flow and heat transfer in an open thermosyphon. He identified three regimes for laminar flow in the tube:

(1) For a tube with a small length to diameter ratio, the boundary layer on the tube acts the same as the boundary layer on a vertical heated plate in an infinite medium.

(2) For longer tubes, the boundary layer fills the tube and the velocity and temperature profiles are similar and only change in magnitude.

(3) For tubes with large length to diameter ratios, the flow is the same as in case (2) for a portion of the tube but near the closed end of the tube the fluid is stagnant.

Lighthill's predictions for Nusselt number as a function of Grashof number for the laminar case are shown in figure 27. These predictions agree well with the results of the experimental investigations to be discussed. He proposed the same regimes for turbulent flow, but the turbulent predictions do not agree as well with most experiments.

Martin and Cohen (ref. 80) and Martin (ref. 81) performed experiments on open thermosyphon





Figure 28. - Lighthill's turbulent boundary-layer-type flow prediction compared to data of Eckert and Diaguila (ref. 79). tubes with a constant wall temperature boundary condition using several different fluids. They found that the laminar results agreed with Lighthill's theory. As predicted by Lighthill, heat transfer is impeded when the flow becomes turbulent because of the mixing of hot and cold streams. Lighthill predicted a regime of turbulent boundary-layertype flow at very high Rayleigh numbers; however, this prediction was not confirmed experimentally. Martin claimed there was strong evidence that fully mixed flow would persist indefinitely and that this would be the predominant mode of heat transfer in the gas turbine blade.

Hartnett and Welsh (ref. 82) made measurements for a closed thermosyphon with a constant heat flux boundary condition. Average measurements agree with Lighthill's laminar theory. Average heat-transfer coefficients also agree with Martin's data for constant wall temperature. Hasegawa et al. (ref. 83) found that results obtained at constant wall temperature worked well at constant heat flux and in between the two. They found good agreement with Lighthill's laminar theory, but like other investigators they were not able to obtain the turbulent boundary-layer regime predicted by Lighthill.

For small length-to-diameter-ratio flow passages the data of Eckert and Diaguila (ref. 78) agree with the turbulent boundary-layer prediction of Lighthill. Figure 28 shows the data of Eckert and Diaguila plotted with the prediction of Lighthill. Japikse and Winter (ref. 84) suggest that improved heat transfer might be possible if a flow guide were used at the inlet to keep hot and cold fluid from mixing. Eckert and Diaguila may have been able to obtain the turbulent boundary-layer flow where other investigators did not because of their inlet conditions. Fluid did not enter Eckert and Diaguila's thermosyphon from a reservoir as in other investigations but was supplied by a separate tube. Hot fluid was taken off by other tubes around the inlet of the thermosyphon. The thermosyphon tube used by Eckert and Diaguila was relatively short when compared to those used by other investigators; this may also explain the turbulent boundary-layer-type flow.

Bayley (ref. 85) and Bayley et al. (ref. 86) concluded from an analysis that data for liquid metals taken at low Grashof numbers could be extrapolated to the turbine operating range and that turbulent results can be predicted from laminar results because of the high fluid conductivity. Bayley and Czekanski (ref. 87) obtained correlations for liquid metals in open thermosyphons with isothermal walls.

Alcock (ref. 88) suggested that the effect of Coriolis forces in the turbine might be simulated by tilting a static model; thus, a component of gravity is used to simulate the Coriolis force. Martin and Cresswell (ref. 89) found that for fluids with Prandtl numbers about 1 heat transfer always increased with tilting angle. Heat transfer was found to vary around the perimeter of the tube with tilting. Martin (ref. 90) measured the heat transfer in an inclined thermosyphon for several fluids with Prandtl numbers ranging from about 1 to very large. He found that the heat transfer increased for the fully mixed turbulent regime for all angles of tilt. He hypothesized that tilting decreased mixing at the inlet to the tube. For laminar and transition flow, small angles of tilt decreased the heat transfer and large angles increased it. Leslie (ref. 91) found that tilting caused a decrease in the boundary-layer thickness.

Martin and Lockwood (ref. 92) studied the effect of orifice geometry and tilting by a flow visualization technique. They found that for tubes with large length to diameter ratios the fluid always enters from the floor of the reservoir. Collision of the hot and cold fluids at the inlet causes an instability. In the laminar impeded regime, the hot fluid parts to form holes through which cool fluid enters. For both laminar and turbulent boundary-layer flow the cool fluid mixes with part of the hot fluid before entering the tube. Tilting the tube stabilized the inlet flow and restored boundary-layer-type flow. Sharp edged orifices were thought to be preferable to rounded ones because they promoted a turbulent boundary layer and thus improved heat transfer.

A two-phase, boiling, open thermosyphon in a rotating rig was studied by Frea (ref. 93) up to about 100 g's. The critical heat flux was defined as the point where the vapor velocity was high enough to "hold up" the liquid flowing in the opposite direction. Critical flux increased by five over the static case at 75 g's. A simple mathematical model of annular liquid flow with gas core flow correlated data well. Kusuda and Imura (ref. 94) also modeled critical flux. Kusuda and Imura (ref. 95) conducted experiments with water in a boiling, open thermosyphon in a 1-g static test. They found that fluid at the centerline heated as it moved toward the closed end. When the saturation temperature was reached, the fluid temperature then stayed constant to the closed end. Bubbles from boiling agglomerated and then moved up the tube toward the open end in a slug "exploding" out the open end. This process caused the wall temperatures to oscillate wildly. Heat-transfer coefficients were larger than they were for pool boiling, but critical flux was considerably lower.

In summary, many experimental investigations have been conducted on the open thermosyphon in a nonrotating environment and several have been conducted with tilted tubes to simulate the Coriolis force that would be present in the rotating system. The experimental results for vertical tubes generally agree with theory in the laminar regime; however, the predicted turbulent boundary-layer regime has been confirmed in only one experiment with a special inlet configuration. Although tilting the tube improves heat transfer, it is not known if this is a true representation of the effect of Coriolis forces. Very large heat-transfer coefficients were obtained in a rotating, boiling, open thermosyphon; however, the critical heat flux was lower than that for pool boiling.

Closed Thermosyphon

Lighthill (ref. 79) modeled the closed thermosyphon as two open thermosyphons with open ends joined: one is heated while the other is cooled. The reservoir temperature was the mixed temperature of the hot and cold streams of each.

Bayley and Lock (ref. 96) performed experiments with several fluids. They found all flow regimes in open thermosyphons can be found in closed thermosyphons as Lighthill suggested. Decreasing the ratio of heated to cooled length increased heat transfer. Bayley and Lock proposed three modes of coupling the heated and cooled thermosyphons that form the closed thermosyphon:

- (1) Conduction with high Prandtl number fluids
- (2) Convection distinct flow streams carried hot and cold fluid from one half of the thermosyphon to the other
- (3) Turbulent mixing for low Prandtl number fluids

The authors found turbulent mixing to be the best model. They tested a device that was supposed to aid the hot and cold streams in crossing, thus avoiding the mixing of hot and cold streams, but it failed to work.

Japikse and Winter (ref. 97) found that for high Prandtl number fluids the exchange process between hot and cold streams was convective. For fluids with Prandtl numbers less than 10 turbulent mixing was the mode of transfer.

Larsen and Hartnett (ref. 98) experimented with the tilted closed thermosyphon. Their results showed that heat transfer increased with tilting. They concluded that hot fluid must flow up one side and cool fluid down the other, thus eliminating the mixing zone. Japikse, Jallouk, and Winter (ref. 99) reached similar conclusions.

Larkin (ref. 100) conducted experiments on a two-phase, boiling, closed thermosyphon using a glass tube. He noted that as the operating temperature increased the condensate boiled and was thrown off the tube wall causing dryout of the upper boiler tube segment. Tilting the tube showed no adverse effects. If liquid was carried by the vapor to the condenser it hindered condensation.

Wallis and Makkenchery (ref. 101) tested tubes with downflow of a liquid annulus and upflow of a gas core to determine the critical velocity. This is the velocity at which the gas core "holds up" the liquid annulus. This simulated the boiler end of a two-phased closed thermosyphon. If the flow is "held up," then the flow of liquid coolant to the blade tip would be stopped. They found that when the dimensionless diameter (nondimensionalized by multiplying by the square root of gravity times density difference between the phases and divided by surface tension) is less than 2 the critical velocity tends to zero. These results indicate that for turbine applications where the dimensionless diameter is likely to be between 20 and 50 reasonable velocities are attainable without reaching the critical heat flux.

After a review of all liquid-cooling systems, Cohen and Bayley (ref. 15) concluded that the twophase closed thermosyphon was the most practical system for turbine cooling application. They conducted experiments on a rotating rig as mentioned earlier. Bayley and Bell (ref. 16) made heattransfer measurements on a rotating two-phase thermosyphon filled 0, 1/4, 1/2, 3/4, and full of mercury up to 440 g's. Results are shown in figure 29, which is from reference 15. After a certain filling quantity is reached, the maximum heat flow capacity is independent of the amount of mercury in the tube. Variations in heat transfer for different rotational speeds and filling quantities could be partially explained by the variation in saturation pressure along the tube.



Figure 29. - Heat flow plotted against quantity of coolant for rotating, closed, two-phase thermosyphon (Cohen and Bayley, ref. 15). Chato (ref. 102) solved momentum and energy equations on a flat plate for condensing liquid in a variable g-field. This simulated the condenser end of a two-phase closed thermosyphon. Results show that film thickness and Nusselt number approach limiting values as radial distance increases. This indicated a limit to the length of the two-phase closed thermosyphon.

In summary, the closed thermosyphon has been modeled as two open thermosyphons connected at the open ends. The method of exchange of hot and cold fluids at the junction has been shown to be turbulent mixing for most practical applications. Tilting the closed thermosyphon improves heat transfer. The two-phase closed thermosyphon has been tested in a rotating environment, and the heat-transfer capacity was found to be independent of the filling quantity.

Closed-Loop Thermosyphon

Chato (ref. 103) and Chato and Lawrence (ref. 104) used one-dimensional mass, momentum, and energy equations to develop a mathematical model to solve for the flow distribution in n-parallel channels. The channels were allowed to have different but uniform heat rates; thus, some channels could be cooled while others were heated. This would cause a density difference between heated and cooled channels which would lead to circulation. He assumed that a forced-convection friction factor could be applied since the flow in each channel would be in one direction (up some channels and down others). Predictions for a three-channel system in which one channel is unheated and the other two are heated at different rates showed that several flow patterns were possible. In the first flow pattern, flow was up in the channel with the largest heating rate and down in the other two. For the second case, flow was up in both heated channels, but flow in the channel with the lower heating rate was at a very low rate. Experiments were performed to confirm this analysis. Chato found that steady oscillation could develop in the system because of periodic boiling and geysering in the heated channels. This indicates that great care must be taken in designing cooled turbine blades with multiple passages.

Davies and Morris (ref. 105) coined the term "mixed convection thermosyphon" to describe the closed-loop thermosyphon. Mixed convection in this case meant the flow was driven by naturalconvection-type density gradients but was otherwise treated as a forced flow. They conducted experiments on a rotating rig where heat was added to a leg rotating parallel to the axis of rotation and extracted in a leg that was coincident with the axis. They concluded that transition to turbulence occurred much sooner than it did for forced convection. They developed an empirical correlation for Nusselt number based on an analysis similar to Chato's. Data were taken only from 0 to 15 g's. Japikse and Hoschendler (ref. 106) used a model similar to Chato's to design a mixed convection, cooled turbine blade.

Hayama (refs. 107 and 108) studied natural circulation in a boiling loop with heat added in the up leg. He concluded that the driving potential was due to voids in the boiling leg which decreased the average density.

Keller (ref. 109) used time-dependent equations for an inertialess system consisting of two parallel vertical tubes joined by horizontal tubes at the top and bottom. Heat was added and removed at points on the bottom and top, respectively. He found that a periodic solution exists; this indicates that the flow can oscillate. Welander (ref. 110) used linear stability theory to develop a neutral stability curve in terms of dimensionless gravity and friction coefficients. His results indicate that no unstable systems with exponentional growth exist and that oscillation depends on friction and density gradients and not on system mass. Creveling et al. (ref. 111) performed experiments on a torus of water with heat added at the bottom and taken off at the top. Oscillations predicted by linear stability theory were found to exist. Hayama (refs. 107 and 108) used a stability analysis on the boiling naturalconvection loop and concluded that instability could exist if the slope of the pressure-drop flow rate curve was negative near the operating point. The addition of a pump or orifice to the circuit stabilized the flow. The implication of flow oscillation to heat transfer in the turbine application is not known.

In summary, the closed-loop thermosyphon has been modeled by assuming that forced-flow heat transfer and pressure loss correlations apply to free-convection-driven flows in a closed loop. This analysis has not been confirmed by experiment. It has been shown by analysis and confirmed by experiment that flow oscillation in the closed-loop thermosyphon is possible in a static system. The consequences of oscillation to heat transfer in the turbine application are not known.

TECHNOLOGY REQUIRED

This review of liquid-cooling literature has pointed out the lack of basic data and understanding of heat transfer, pressure drop, critical heat flux, and flow stability in the cooling passages of a rotating turbine blade. In this section, areas of research required to advance our understanding of these processes are outlined.

Additional experimental heat-transfer and flow data must be obtained and correlations and prediction methods must be developed for single- and two-phase flow particularly under high centrifugal accelerations. Some two-phase heat-transfer data on stationary tubes, limited pool boiling data to about 475 g's, and single-phase flows in a rotating tube up to 5000 g's are available; however, it is not known if these data can be successfully applied to rotating systems where centrifugal accelerations may reach 20 000 g's and where large Coriolis forces are also present. There are no data for flow toward the axis of rotation, only for radial outflow. Information is also needed on the effect of nonuniform passage heating and high centrifugal accelerations on critical heat flux. The information that is available is sparse and only for nonrotating conditions. Pool boiling critical flux data are available for accelerations to 5000 g's. No forcedconvection boiling critical flux data are available at high accelerations or with Coriolis forces. The effect of large accelerations on flow stability in boiling channels is also unknown. Research must also be conducted to determine the distribution of coolant phases in liquid-vapor systems. Centrifugal and Coriolis forces may cause some of the cooling passages to become liquid starved, thus causing local overheating of the turbine blade. Information must also be obtained on the effect of variables such as coolant viscosity, surface tension, and passage diameter on the wetting of the passage periphery under the influence of Coriolis forces and their combined effect on flow and heat transfer.

Heat transfer to supercritical water must be investigated under the influence of high-g forces. Correlations are available for heat transfer to supercritical water in stationary tubes, but it is not known if these correlations will be valid in a high-g environment. Test data for liquid flow in a single, heated, nonrotating tube at supercritical pressures and temperatures showed large pressure fluctuations at some conditions of operation which were not anticipated prior to testing. The problem of flow stability of supercritical fluids in rotating passages must be explored experimentally for turbine operating conditions.

The closed-loop thermosyphon and the open thermosyphon with passages connected together at the blade tip seem to be the most practical among the various thermosyphons for turbine applications because they permit using the large passage length to diameter ratios required to minimize stresses. The mixed convection analysis, where heat transfer and friction pressure drops are evaluated from forced-convection correlations for a free-convection-driven flow, needs to be verified by experiment. The possibility of flow oscillation and the consequences to heat transfer must be investigated. The problems of flow stability of nearcritical fluids in rotating passages must be explored experimentally for expected turbine operating conditions. There is no known analysis capable of modeling all aspects of supercritical heat transfer in the static case let alone the rotating case.

Other areas related to liquid cooling where technology needs to be broadened include experimental confirmation of the expected influence of highly cooled walls on combustion-gas-stream boundary-layer development and heat transfer. A currently available two-dimensional boundary-layer program predicts early transition to turbulent flow and thus higher heat transfer for highly cooled walls. Since this effect could cause higher metal temperatures than expected if not accounted for in a design, it should be investigated experimentally. The clogging of small cooling passages by deposits from cooling water needs to be evaluated as well as the methods of minimizing erosion of cooling passages and water recovery systems. Long life seals need to be developed to get coolant on and off rotating turbine wheels. Also, improved manufacturing and nondestructive inspection techniques need to be developed that allow the economical production of blades, vanes, and associated hardware that will be capable of containing coolant at the high pressures required for the long lifetimes of large industrial gas turbines.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Although a number of liquid-cooled turbine demonstrators have been tested and some basic and supportive liquid-cooling research has been conducted, existing technology is not adequate to design a liquid-cooled turbine with a high assurance of success or to optimize liquid-cooling systems for a given turbine application. Considerable basic and applied research on the liquid cooling of gas turbines is still required.

Lewis Research Center,

National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Cleveland, Ohio, April 28, 1978, 778-11.

REFERENCES

- Johnson, B. V.; Giramonti, A. J., and Lehman, S. J.: Effect of Water-Cooling Turbine Blades on Advanced Gas Turbine Power Systems. ASME Paper 77-GT-80, Mar 1977.
- Assessment of a Water-Cooled Gas Turbine Concept. Rep. 234-1, Electric Power Research Institute, 1975.

- Kottas, H.; and Sheflin, B. W.: Investigation of High-Temperature Operation of Liquid-Cooled Gas Turbines. I — Turbine Wheel of Aluminum Alloy, a High Conductivity Nonstrategic Material. NACA RM E8D12, 1948.
- Bartoo, Edward R.; and Freche, John C.: Investigation of Single-Stage Turbines Having Aluminum and Steel Water-Cooled Wheels. NACA Conference on Turbine Cooling, Lewis Flight Propulsion Lab., Nov. 9, 1949, pp. 104-126.
- Freche, J. C., and Diaguilia, A. J.: Heat Transfer and Operating Characteristics of Aluminum Forced-Convection and Stainless-Steel Natural-Convection Water-Cooled Single-Stage Turbines. NACA RM E50D03a, 1950.
- Ellerbrock, Herman Henry, Jr.: Some NACA Investigations of Heat-Transfer of Cooled Gas-Turbine Blades. Proceedings of the Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), 1951, General Discussion on Heat Transfer, sec. V, pp. 410-420.
- Alpert, Sumner; Grey, R. E.; and Drake, D. D.: Application of Internal Liquid Cooling to Gas-Turbine Rotors. Trans. ASME, vol. 78, Aug. 1956, pp. 1257-1266.
- Alpert, Sumner: Development of T500J Liquid-Cooled Turbine. Rep. 856, Solar Aircraft Co., 1959.
- Alpert, Sumner; Grey, R. E.; and Flaschar, W. O.: Development of a Three-Stage Liquid-Cooled Gas-Turbine. J. Eng. Power, vol. 82, no. 1, Jan. 1960, pp. 1-9.
- Kydd, P. H.; and Day, W. H.: An Ultra High Temperature Turbine for Maximum Performance and Fuels Flexibility. ASME Paper 75-GT-81, Mar. 1975.
- Perugi, A. H.: Water Cooled Gas Turbine Development. EPRI AF-231 Electric Power Research Institute, Jan. 1976.
- Kydd, Paul H.: Metering of Liquid Coolant in Open-Circuit Liquid Cooled Gas Turbines. U.S. Patent 3,658,439, Apr. 1972.
- Moore, John: System for the Introduction of Coolant Into Open-Circuit Cooled Turbine Buckets. U.S. Patent 3,804,551, Apr. 1974.
- Grondahl, Clayton M.; and Eskesen, John H.: Liquid Cooled Turbine Bucket With Dovetailed Attachment. U.S. Patent 3,856,433, Dec. 1974.
- Cohen, Henry; and Bayley, F. J.: Heat-Transfer Problems of Liquid-Cooled Gas-Turbine Blades. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), vol. 169, 1955, pp. 1063-1080.
- Bayley, F. J.; and Bell, N.: Heat Transfer Characteristics of a Liquid Metal in the Closed Thermosyphon. Engineering, (London), vol. 183, (47/48), 1957, pp. 300-302.
- Suciu, S. N.: High Temperature Turbine Design Considerations. High Temperature Turbines. AGARD CP-73-71, 1971, Paper No. 15.
- Genot, J.; and LeGrives, E.: Transfert de Chaleur Par Chaugement de Phase et Centrifugal Application au Refroidissement de Ailettes de Turbine. Heat Transfer 1970, Fourth International Heat Transfer Conference, Paris-Versailles: Vol. I — Conduction Heat Exchangers. U. Grigull and E. Hahne, eds., Elsevier Publishing Co. (Amsterdam), paper HE 2.2. (Heat Transfer Through Phase Change and Centrifugation Application to Turbine Blade Cooling. NASA TT F-16624, 1975.)
- LeGrives, E.; and Genot, J.: Refroidissement Des Aubes De Turbines Par Les Metaux Liquides. High Temperature Turbines, AGARD CP-73-71, 1971, Paper No. 27 (Liquid Metal Cooling of Turbine Blades, Royal Aircraft Establishment, Library Translation No. 1713, 1974).

- Ogale, V. A.: On the Application of the Semi-Closed Thermosyphon System to Gas Turbine Blade Cooling. Ph. D. Thesis, Technological Univ. of Delft, 1969.
- Bayley, F. J.; and Martin, B. W.: A Review of Liquid Cooling of High-Temperature Gas-Turbine Rotor Blades. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), vol. 185, 1971, pp. 219-227.
- Smith, A. G.; and Pearson, R. D.: The Cooled Gas Turbine. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), vol. 163, 1950, pp. 221-234.
- Robinson, A. H.: Mechanical Performance of the T.3 Water Cooled Turbine at Medium Speed and Low Temperature. Memo M.83, National Gas Turbine Establishment, 1950.
- Schmidt, Ernst H. W.: Heat Transmission by Natural Convection at High Centrifugal Acceleration in Water-Cooled Gas Turbine Blades. Proceedings of the General Discussion on Heat Transfer, London, 1951, Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), sec. IV, pp. 361-363.
- Freche, John C.: A Summary of Design Information for Water-Cooled Turbines. NACA RM E51A03, 1951.
- Freche, J. C.; Schum, E. F.: Determination of Blade-to-Coolant Heat Transfer Coefficients on a Forced- Convection, Water-Cooled, Single-Stage Turbine. NACA RM E51E18, 1951.
- Curren, A. N.; and Zalabak, C. F.: Effect of Diameter of Closed-End Coolant Passages on Natural-Convection Water Cooling of Gas Turbine Blades. NACA RM E55J18a, 1956.
- Zalabak, C. F.; and Curren, A. N.: Effect of Blade-Tip Crossover Passages on Natural-Convection Water Cooling of Gas-Turbine Blades. NACA RM E55K21a, 1956.
- Gabel, R. M.: Feasibility Demonstration of a Small Fluid-Cooled Turbine at 2300° F. SAE Paper 690034, Jan. 1969.
- Gabel, R. M.; and Tabbey, A. J.: Advancement of High-Temperature Turbine Technology for Small Gas Turbine Engines — Fluid-Cooled Axial Flow Turbine. CAE-1094, Continental Aviation and Engineering Corp., 1969. (USAAVLABS TR 68-65; AD-686312.)
- Johnson, Edward T.: A Fluid-Cooled 2300° F Entry Temperature Axial Flow Turbine. High Temperature Turbines, AGARD CP-73-71, 1971, Paper No. 29.
- Edwards, J. P.: Liquid and Vapour Cooling Systems for Gas Turbines. ARC-CP-1127, National Gas Turbine Establishment. 1970.
- Goodyer, M. J.; and Waterston, R. M.: Mist-Cooled Turbines. Heat and Fluid Flow in Steam and Gas Turbine Plant, Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), 1974, pp. 166-174.
- Freche, John C.; and McKinnon, Roy A.: Experimental Investigation of Several Water-Injection Configurations for Turbine-Blade Spray Cooling in a Turbojet Engine. NACA RM E53H06, 1953.
- Freche, John C.; and McKinnon,, R. A.: Investigation of Turbojet Engine Performance at Speeds and Gas Temperatures Above Rated Using Turbine-Blade External Water-Spray Cooling From Stationary Injection Orifices. NACA RM E54G30, 1954.
- Burke, Edward; and Kemeny, George A.: A Novel Cooling Method for Gas Turbines. Trans. ASME, vol. 77, 1955, pp. 187-195.
- Freche, John C.; and Hickel, Robert O.: Turbojet Engine Investigation of Effect of Thermal Shock Induced by External Water-Spray Cooling on Turbine Blades of Five High-Temperature Alloys. NACA RM E55J17, 1955.
- McKinnon, Roy A.; and Freche, John C.: Experimental Investigation of External Water-Spray Cooling in a Tur-

25

1 K. J

bojet Engine Utilizing Several Injection Configurations Including Orifices in the Rotor-Blade Bases. NACA RM I54K29a, 1955.

- May, Hans: Investigation of Forced Convection Liquid-Cooled Gas Turbine Blades. J. Eng. Power, vol. 87, 1965, pp. 57-71.
- May, Hans: Liquid Cooling of Gas-Turbine Blades with Forced Convection. Gas Turbines, AGARD CP-9-Part 1, 1966, pp. 355-367.
- Stappenbeck, A.; et al.: Small Axial Turbine Stage Cooling Investigation. CW-WR-69-077, Curtiss Wright Corp., 1971. (USAAVLABS TR-71-14; AD-727741.)
- Hendricks, R. C.; Simoneau, R. J.; and Smith, R. V.: Survey of Heat Transfer to Near Critical Fluids. NASA TN D-5886, 1970.
- Eckert, Ernst R. G.; Diaguila, Anthony J.; and Curren, Arthur N.: Experiments on Mixed-Free-and-Forced- Convective Heat Transfer Connected with Turbulent Flow Through a Short Tube. NACA TN 2974, 1953.
- Eckert, Ernst R. G.; Diaguila, Anthony J.; and Livingood, John N. B.: Free-Convection Effects on Heat Transfer for Turbulent Flow Through a Vertical Tube. NACA TN 3584, 1955.
- Mori, Y.; Fukada, T.; and Nakayama, W.: Convective Heat Transfer in a Rotating Radial Circular Pipe. Int. J. Heat & Mass Transfer, vol. 14, 1971, pp. 1807-1824.
- Dittus, F. W.; and Boelter, L. M. K.: Heat Transfer in Automobile Radiators of the Tubular Type. Univ. Calif., Berkeley, Publ. Eng., vol. 2, no. 13, 1930, pp. 443-461.
- Klick, J. P.; and Wegner, H. J.: Heat Transfer and Pressure Loss in Rotating Channels. Wissenschaftliche Zeitschrift, vol. 24 no. 3-4, 1975, pp. 657-659.
- Johnson, B. V.: Water-Cooled Turbine Technology Study. Report R77-912176-4, United Technologies Research Center, 1977.
- Scheele, George F.; Rosen, Edward M.; and Hanratty, Thomas J.: Effect of Natural Convection on Transition to Turbulence in Vertical Pipes. Can. J. Chem. Eng., vol. 38, no. 3, June 1960, pp. 67-73.
- Rohsenow, Warren M.; and Hartnett, James P.: Handbook of Heat Transfer. McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1973.
- Hsu, Yih-Yun; and Graham, Robert W.: Transport Processes in Boiling and Two-Phase Systems. Hemisphere Publishing Corp., 1976.
- 52. Gray, Vernon H.; Marto, Paul J.; and Joslyn, Allen W.: Boiling Heat-Transfer Coefficients, Interface Behavior, and Vapor Quality in Rotating Boiler operating to 475 G's. NASA TN D-4136, 1968.
- Marto, Paul J.; and Gray, Vernon H.: Effects of High Accelerations and Heat Fluxes on Nucleate Boiling of Water in an Axisymmetric Rotating Boiler. NASA TN D-6307, 1971.
- Symons, J. G.; and Bonamy, S. E.: The Dynamics of Vapour Bubbles Attached to Inclined Heated Surfaces in a Flowing Medium. Australasian Conference on Hydraulics and Fluid Mechanics, Fifth, Christchurch, New Zealand. Univ. of Canterbury (Christchurch), 1975, vol. 1, pp. 433-442.
- Perugi, A. H.: Water Cooled Gas Turbine Development. EPRI/AF-231, Electric Power Research Institute, 1976.
- Stone, James R.: A Correlation of Subcooled Boiling Pressure Drop for Low Pressure Water Flowing in Tubes with Constant Heat Flux. Chem. Eng. Prog. Symp. Ser., vol. 67, no. 113, 1971, pp. 57-63.
- Thom, J. R. S.: Prediction of Pressure Drop During Forced Circulation Boiling of Water. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 7, 1964, pp. 709-724.

- Martinelli, R. C.; and Nelson, D. B.: Prediction of Pressure Drop During Forced-Circulation Boiling of Water. Trans. ASME, vol. 70, 1948, pp. 695-702.
- Gambill, W. R.: Generalized Prediction of Burnout Heat Flux for Flowing, Subcooled, Wetting Liquids. Chem. Eng. Prog. Symp. Ser., vol. 59, no. 41, 1963, pp. 71-87.
- Lowdermilk, Warren H.; Lanzo, Chester D.; and Siegel, Byron L.: Investigation of Boiling Burnout and Flow Stability for Water Flowing in Tubes. NACA TN 4382, 1958.
- 61. Bergles, A. E.: Subcooled Burnout in Tubes of Small Diameter. ASME Paper 63-WA-182, Nov. 1963.
- Gouse, S. W., Jr.: and Andrysiak, Carl D.: Some Observations on Two-Phase Flow Oscillations. Multi-Phase Flow Symposium, Normal O. Lipstein, ed., ASME, 1963, pp. 84-89.
- 63. Tong, Long-Sun: Boiling Heat Transfer and Two Phase Flow. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1965.
- Boure, J. A.; Bergles, A. E.; and Tong, L. S.: Review of Two-Phase Flow Instability. Nucl. Eng. Des., vol. 25, no. 2, 1973, pp. 165-192.
- Chen, J. C.: A Correlation of Boiling Heat Transfer to Saturated Fluids in Convective Flow. ASME Paper 63- HT-34, Aug. 1963.
- Forster, H. K.; and Zuber, N.: Dynamics of Vapor Bubbles and Boiling Heat-Transfer. AIChE J., vol. 1, no. 4, Dec. 1955, pp. 531-535.
- 67. Thorsen, Richard S.; Dobran, Flavio; and Alcorta, Jorge A.: A Comparative Study of Vertical Upflow and Downflow in a Uniformly Heated Boiling Fluid. Heat Transfer 1974, Proceedings of the Fifth International Heat Transfer Conference, The Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers/The Society of Chemical Engineers, Japan (Tokyo), 1974, vol. IV, pp. 155-159.
- Stone, James R.; Gray, Vernon H.; and Gutierrez, Orlando A.: Forced Flow Once-Through Boilers. NASA SP-369, 1975.
- Subbotin, V. I.; et al.: Measurement of Some Characteristics of a Steam-Water Flow in a Round Tube at Pressures of 70 and 100 Atm. ASME Paper 75- WA/HT-21, Nov. 1975.
- Butterworth, D.: A Model for Predicting Dryout in a Tube with a Circumferential Variation in Heat Flux. AERE-M-2436, Atomic Energy Research Establishment, 1971.
- Whalley, P. B.; Hutchinson, P.; and Hewitt, G.F.: The Calculation of Critical Heat Flux in Forced Convection Boiling. Heat Transfer 1974, Proceedings of the Fifth International Heat Transfer Conference, The Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers/The Society of Chemical Engineers, Japan (Tokyo), 1974, vol. IV, pp. 290-294.
- Chojnowski, B.; Wilson, P. W.: Critical Heat Flux for Large Diameter Steam Generating Tubes with Circumferentially Variable and Uniform Heating. Heat Transfer 1974, Proceedings of the Fifth International Heat Transfer Conference, The Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers/The Society of Chemical Engineers, Japan (Tokyo), 1974, vol. IV, pp. 260-264.
- Usenko, V. I.; and Fainzil berg, S. N.: Effect of Acceleration on the Critical Heat Load with the Boiling of Freons on Elements Having Small Transverse Dimensions. High Temp. (Engl. Transl.), vol. 12, no. 3, May-June, 1974, pp. 460-496.
- Swenson, H. S., Carver, J. R.; and Kakarala, C. R.: Heat Transfer to Supercritical Water in Smooth-Bore Tubes. Trans. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, Nov. 1965, pp. 477-484.

- 75. Hall, W. B: Forced Convection Heat Transfer to Supercritical Pressure Fluids. Archiwum Termodynamiki i Spalaria, vol. 6, no. 3, 1975, pp. 341-352.
- Faith, L. E.; Ackerman, G. H.; and Henderson, H. T.: Heat Sink Capability of Jet A Fuel: Heat Transfer and Coking Studies. NASA CR-72951, 1971.
- Eckert, E. R. G.; and Jackson, Thomas W.: Analytical Investigation of Flow and Heat Transfer in Coolant Passages of Free-Convection Liquid-Cooled Turbines. NACA RM E50D25, 1950.
- Eckert, E. R. G.; and Diaguila, A. J.: Experimental Investigation of Free-Convection Heat Transfer in Vertical Tube at Large Grashof Numbers. NACA RM E52F30, 1952.
- Lighthill, M. J.: Theoretical Consideration on Free Convection in Tubes. Quart. J. Mech. X Appl. Math., vol. 6, no. 4, 1953, pp. 398-439.
- Martin, B. W.; and Cohen, H.: Heat-Transfer by Free Convection in an Open Thermosyphon Tube. British J. Appl. Phys., vol. 5, 1954, pp. 91-95.
- Martin, B. W.: Free Convection in an Open Thermosyphon, with Special Reference to Turbulent Flow. Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), ser. A, vol. 230, 1955, pp. 502-530.
- Hartnett, J. P.; and Welsh, W. E.: Experimental Studies of Free Convection Heat Transfer in a Vertical Tube With Uniform Wall Heat Flux. Trans. ASME, vol. 79, 1957, pp. 1551-1557.
- Haseqawa, S.; Nishikawa, K.; and Yamagata, K.: Heat Transfer in an Open Thermosyphon. Bull. JSME, vol. 6, no. 22, 1963, pp. 230-250.
- Japikse, D. J.; and Winter, E. R. F.: Single-phase Transport Processes in the Open Thermosyphon. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 14, 1971, pp. 427-441.
- Bayley, F. J.: An Analysis of Turbulent Free-Convection Heat-Transfer. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), vol. 169, no. 20, 1955, pp. 361-370.
- Bayley, P. A.; Milne, P. A.; and Stoddart, D. E.: Heat Transfer by Free Convection in a Liquid Metal. Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), ser. A, vol. 265, 1961, pp. 97-108.
- Bayley, F. J.; and Czekanski, J.: Experimental Investigation of Free Convection in a Liquid Metal in Long Tubes. J. Mech. Engr. Sci., vol 5, no. 4, Dec. 1963, p. 295.
- Alcock, J. F.: Discussion. Proceedings of the General Discussion on Heat Transfer, London, 1951, Inst. Mech. Eng., 1951, sec. IV, p. 378.
- Martin, B. W.; and Cresswell, D. J.: Influence of Coriolis Forces on Heat Transfer in the Open Thermosyphon. Engineer, vol. 204, no. 5318, Dec. 27, 1957, pp. 926-930.
- Martin, B. W.: Free-Convection Heat Transfer in the Inclined Open Thermosyphon. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. (London), vol. 173, no. 32, 1959, pp. 761-778.
- Leslie, F. M.: Free Convection in the Tilted Open Thermosyphon. J. Fluid Mech., vol. 7, no. 1, 1959, pp. 115-127.
- Martin, B. W.; and Lockwood, F. C.: Entry Effects in the Open Thermosyphon. J. Fluid Mech., vol. 19, no. 2, 1964, pp. 246-256.
- Frea, W. J.: Two Phase Heat Transfer and Flooding in Counter Current Flow. Heat Transfer 1970, Fourth International Heat Transfer Conference, Paris- Versailles: Vol. V — Boiling. Ulrich Grigull and Erich Hahne, eds., Elsevier Publishing Co. (Amsterdam), 1970, paper no. B5.10.

- Kusuda, H.; and Imura, H.: Stability of a Liquid Film in a Counter-Current Annular Two-Phase Flow. Bull. JSME, vol. 17, no. 114, 1974, pp. 1613-1618.
- Kusuda, H., and Imura, H.: Boiling Heat Transfer in an Open Thermosyphon. I — An Experiment with Water. Bull. JSME, vol. 16, 1973, pp. 1723-1733.
- Bayley, F. J.; and Lock, G. S. H.: Heat Transfer Characteristics of the Closed Thermosyphon. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 87, Feb. 1965, pp. 30-40.
- Japikse, D.; and Winter, E. R. F.: Heat Transfer and Fluid Flow in the Closed Thermosyphon. Heat Transfer 1970, Fourth International Heat Transfer Conference, Paris-Versailles: Vol. IV — Natural Convection. Ulrich Grigull and Erich Hahne, eds., Elsevier Publishing Co. (Amsterdam), 1970, paper no. NC 2.9.
- Larsen, Floyd W.; and Hartnett, J. P.: Effect of Aspect Ratio and Tube Orientation on Free Convection Heat Transfer to Water and Mercury in Enclosed Circular Tubes. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 83, 1961, pp. 87-93.
- Japikse, D.; Jallouk, P. A.; and Winter, E. R. F.: Single-Phase Transport Processes in the Closed Thermosyphon. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, vol. 14, July 1971, pp. 869-887.
- Larkin, B. S.: An Experimental Study of the Two-Phase Thermosiphon Tube. Trans. of CSME, paper no. 70- csme-6, 1971.
- Wallis, G. B.; and Makkenchery, S.: The Hanging Film Phenomenon in Vertical Annular Two-Phase Flow. J Fluids Engr., vol. 96, no. 3, Sept. 1974, pp. 297-298
- Chato, J. C.: Condensation in a Variable Acceleration Field and the Condensing Thermosyphon. J. Eng. Power, vol. 87, Oct. 1965, pp. 355-360.
- Chato, J. C.: Natural Convection Flows in Parallel-Channel Systems. J. Heat Transfer, vol. 85, Nov. 1963, pp. 339-345.
- Chato, J. C.; and Lawrence, W. T.: Natural Convection Flaws in Single- and Multiple-Channel Systems. Developments in Heat Transfer, W. M. Rohsenow, ed., MIT Press, 1964, pp. 371-388.
- 105 Davies, T. H.; and Morris, W. D.: Heat Transfer Characteristics of a Closed Loop Rotating Thermosyphon. Proceedings of Third International Heat Transfer Conference, Chicago, Ill., Aug. 7-12, 1966, AIChE, pp. 172-181.
- Japikse, D.; and Holchendler, J.: Mixed Convection Thermosyphon and Gas Turbine Blade Cooling. ASME Paper 73-WA/HT-26, Nov. 1973.
- Hayama, Shinji: A Study on the Hydrodynamic Instability in Boiling Channels. Bull. JSME, vol. 6, no. 23, 1963, pp. 549-556.
- 108 Hayama, Shinji: A Study on the Hydrodynamic Instability in Boiling Channels: The Instability in Two Parallel Boiling Channels. Bull. JSME, vol. 7, no. 25, 1964, pp. 129-135.
- Keller, Joseph B.: Periodic Oscillations in a Model of Thermal Convection. J. Fluid Mech., vol. 26, pt. 3, Nov. 1966, pp. 599-606.
- Welander, Pierre: On the Oscillatory Instability of a Differentially Heated Fluid Loop. J. Fluid Mech., vol. 29, pt. 1, July 1967, pp. 17-30.
- 111. Creveling, H. F.; et al.: Stability Characteristics of a Single-Phase Free Convection Loop. J. Fluid Mech., vol. 67, pt. 1, 1975, pp. 65-84.

27

- Alexandre

	AVRADCOM TR 78-21		E Report Date		
4.	REVIEW AND STATUS OF LIQ	UD-COOLING TECHNOLOGY	5. Report Date April 1979	5. Report Date April 1979	
	FOR GAS TURBINES		6. Performing Organ	ization Code	
7.	Author(s)		8. Performing Organ	ization Report No.	
	G. James Van Fossen, Jr., an	nd Francis S. Stepka	E-9517		
9.	Performing Organization Name and Address				
	NASA Lewis Research Center a	and	11. Contract or Gran	t No.	
	AVRADCOM Research and Technology Laboratories				
	Cleveland, Ohio 44135		13. Type of Report a	and Period Covered	
12.	Sponsoring Agency Name and Address National Aeronautics and Space	Administration	Reference Publication		
	Washington, D.C. 20546 and U Development Command, St. Lo	14. Sponsoring Agence	y Code		
15, 3	Supplementary Notes				
	G. James Van Fossen, Jr., A	VRADCOM Research and Techno	ogy Laboratories;		
	Francis S. Stepka, Lewis Rese	earch Center.			
16. /	Abstract	<u> </u>			
	A review was conducted of liqu	id-cooled turbine technology. Se	lected liquid-coole	ed systems	
	and methods are presented alor	ng with an assessment of the cur:	ent technology sta	tus and re-	
	quirements. A comprehensive bibliography is presented.				
17. к	(Sey Words (Suggested by Author(s))	18. Distribution Stater	nent		
17. к	Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Liquid cooling	18. Distribution State Unclassified	nent - unlimited		
17. к	Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Liquid cooling Gas turbines	18. Distribution Stater Unclassified STAR Categ	nent - unlimited ory 34		
17. к	Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Liquid cooling Gas turbines Heat transfer	18. Distribution Stater Unclassified STAR Categ	^{nent} - unlimited ory 34		
17. к	Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Liquid cooling Gas turbines Heat transfer Turbine blades	18. Distribution Stater Unclassified STAR Categ	nent - unlimited ory 34		
17. K (] ,	Key Words (Suggested by Author(s)) Liquid cooling Gas turbines Heat transfer Turbine blades	18. Distribution Stater Unclassified STAR Categ 20. Security Classif. (of this page)	nent - unlimited ory 34 21. No. of Pages	22. Price*	

* For sale by the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161